
Meeting of:  Planning and Licensing Committee
Date: Thursday, 5th March, 2020
Time: 6.00 pm.
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Members of the public are able to speak on planning applications for 
determination by the Committee.  To register to speak on an application please 
complete the required form which is available from Governance & Committee 
Services or on the Councils website at www.rochdale.gov.uk/registertospeak

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1  Apologies 

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  Declarations of Interest 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.   

3  Urgent Items of Business 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

4  Items for Exclusion of Public and Press 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting.

5  Minutes 4 - 7

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Licensing 

Public Document Pack



Committee held Thursday, 6th February 2020.

6  Submitted Planning Applications 

6  Land at Moorhouse Fold 8 - 22

Proposal: Application for the erection of 5 no dwelling-houses and the 
associated external works inclusive of hard and soft landscaping and 
boundary treatments - Part Retrospective

6  Farrel Ltd, Queensway, Rochdale 23 - 39

Proposal: Outline application (including means of access) for the 
demolition of redundant buildings and residential development for up to 
100 dwellings.

7  Determined Planning Appeals 40 - 47

To consider determined Planning Appeals:

a. Land adjacent to 195 Wardle Road, Wardle, Rochdale 
b. Fishing Lodges on the Eastern Side of Huddersfield Road And 
To The South Of Smithy Green, Newhey, Rochdale
c. Land Known as Land North of Bury New Road, Heywood
d. 56-58 Market Place, Middleton
e. Land at 673 Manchester Old Road, Middleton
f. 5 Franklin Street, Rochdale
g. Dane House, William Street, Middleton
h. Land adjacent to Archer Cottage, Sefton Road, Middleton

Committee Site Visits:

3.00pm – Members to meet in the foyer at the entrance to Rochdale 
Town Hall

3.15pm – Newchurch Street to rear of Farrels Ltd, Queensway

4.00pm – Moorhouse Fold, Milnrow



Planning and Licensing Committee Members 2019/2020:

Councillor Shakil Ahmed Councillor Phil Burke
Councillor Irene Davidson Councillor Susan Emmott
Councillor Rachel Massey Councillor Amna Mir
Councillor Shaun O'Neill Councillor Faisal Rana
Councillor Aasim Rashid Councillor Peter Rush
Councillor John Taylor Councillor Shah Wazir
Councillor Peter Winkler Councillor Sameena Zaheer
Councillor Mohammed Zaman

For more information about this meeting, please contact:
Peter Thompson
Committees and Constitutional Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside,
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone: 01706 924715
e-mail; peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk  

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 6th February 2020

PRESENT: Councillor Shakil Ahmed (in the Chair); Councillors Burke, 
Davidson, Susan Emmott, Massey, Mir, O’Neill, Rashid, Rush, Taylor, Wazir, 
Winkler, Zaheer and Zaman. 

OFFICERS: P. Moore (Head of Planning), E. Heron, D. Allen (Economy 
Directorate), J. Gillighan (Neighbourhoods Directorate), Z. Latif, 
N. Suleman and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate).

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Eight members of the public.

49 APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Rana.

50 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Resolved:
Councillor Burke declared a personal and prejudicial interest in minute 52, 
below – Residential development, of 28 dwellings (planning application 
19/00853/FUL).

NB: Councillor Burke addressed the Committee in his capacity as a West 
Middleton Ward Member, to speak in support of the recommendation to grant 
approval and he withdrew from the meeting during the discussion and 
determination of this planning application.

Councillor Rush declared a personal and prejudicial interest in minute 54, 
below – Mills 1 and 2, Mutual Mills, Aspinall Street, Heywood (planning 
application 19/00260/FUL).

NB: Councillor Rush addressed the Committee in his capacity as a North 
Heywood Ward Member, to speak in support of the recommendation to grant 
approval and he withdrew from the meeting during the discussion and 
determination of this planning application.

51 MINUTES
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Licensing Committee 
held 18th December 2019 be approved and signed as a correct record.

52 LAND OFF NEWBY DRIVE, MIDDLETON
The Head of Planning presented submitted planning application 
19/00853/FUL for a residential development – 28 dwellings at land off Newby 
Drive, Middleton, Manchester, M24 5NJ.

The Committee received representations from Ms. C. Byrnes objecting to the 
proposals detailed in the report.

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



The Committee received representations from Ms. A. Denning, the applicant 
and from Mr. K. Bennett, the agent for the applicant, who spoke in support of 
the application.

The Committee received representations from Councillor Burke, West 
Middleton Ward Member; who addressed the Committee in support of the 
proposals detailed in the report.

Resolved:
That planning permission be granted subject to the Conditions detailed in he 
submitted report.

53 98 GLENWOOD DRIVE, MIDDLETON
The Head of Planning presented submitted planning application 
19/01330/HOUS, for a Two Storey Side Extension at 98 Glenwood Avenue, 
Middleton, Manchester, M24 2TW.

Resolved:
That planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions detailed within 
the submitted report.

54 MILLS: 1 AND 2, MUTUAL MILLS, ASPINALL STREET, HEYWOOD
The Head of Planning presented submitted planning application 
19/00260/FUL for the conversion and subdivision of two mill buildings (Mutual 
Mills 1 and 2) to create 298 apartments (Use Class C3), including works of 
demolition and formation of interior atria, provision of car parking at basement 
and ground floor levels, formation of external car parking, landscaping and 
associated internal and external additions and alterations at Mills 1 and 2, 
mutual mills, Aspinall Street, Heywood, OL10 4HW.

The Committee received representations from Mr. M. Webb objecting to the 
proposals detailed in the report.

The Committee received representations from Mr. J. Good, the agent for the 
applicant, who spoke in support of the application.

The Committee received representations from Councillor Rush, North 
Heywood Ward Member, who addressed the Committee in support of the 
proposals detailed in the report.

Resolved:
That planning permission be granted subject to the Conditions detailed in he 
submitted report.

55 LAND BOUND BY MANCHESTER ROAD, HARESHILL ROAD AND 
PILSWORTH ROAD WEST
The Head of Planning reported that in March 2018, the Planning and 
Licensing Committee had resolved that it was ‘minded to grant planning 
permission for planning application 16/01399/HYBR.’
  

Page 5



The application was subsequently referred to the Secretary of State to decide 
whether he would be minded to call-in the application for determination. On 
24th April 2018, a letter was received from the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government confirming that the Secretary of State 
had decided not to call in the application.

Following on from that resolution in March 2018, the applicant, various land 
owners and legal representatives had been in dialogue over the terms of the 
necessary planning agreement.   The signing of that agreement however had 
been delayed due to a dispute with one land owner but that has now been 
resolved.  The planning agreement now lies with the council for execution. 

On that basis, the Council’s Planning Solicitor was content that the planning 
agreement could be signed on behalf of the council and the decision issued.  
The content of the updated information, verbally presented to the Committee, 
had been discussed with and formally approved by the Council’ Planning 
Solicitor.  

Officers considered that there had been no material change in circumstances 
in the intervening period that would warrant reconsideration of the application 
by the Planning and Licensing Committee.

The comprehensive planning committee report considered by the Planning 
and Licensing Committee in March 2018 assessed the application in light of 
the revised draft NPPF which was the subject of consultation at that time. The 
government has since published the revised National Planning Policy 
Framework on 24 July 2018 with a further update on 19 February 2019.  

The updated NPPF (February 2019) replaced all previous versions and set 
out the Government’s revised planning policies for England and how these 
were expected to be applied. This represented a material consideration, 
however the starting point under s38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 is that all applications should be determined in accordance 
with the development plan unless other material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

The development plan remained the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (2016) 
and little had changed in the NPPF in regards to the approach to assessing 
planning applications in the Green Belt.  Moreover, the report that had been 
considered by the Planning and Licensing Committee attributed significant 
weight to the harm by inappropriateness and to the other total Green Belt 
harm. It was not possible to increase this level of harm as it was the maximum 
that could be apportioned to a development. The amount of harm to the Green 
Belt has therefore not changed in the overall balancing exercise and 
conclusion provided in the planning committee report. 

The applicant had recently submitted an update review of the habitats and key 
ecological features on the site to determine whether there has been a change 
in the ecological baseline position. This concluded that there had been no 
changes to the original assessment and that the effects remained as 

Page 6



previously presented. No recommended planning conditions would therefore 
change and the harm apportioned to Biodiversity and Ecology remained at 
very limited in the overall Green Belt balance.

The November 2019 update of the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) also 
provided some changes in the approach to air quality management. When 
considering planning applications the PPG now requires local planning 
authorities to establish the baseline local air quality, including what would 
happen to air quality in the absence of the development.  Regard was also 
required to be had to the change in air quality during the construction and 
operational phases, and the consequences of this for public health, 
biodiversity and the living conditions of occupiers and users of the 
development.
 
To this end, the site was not located within an Air Quality Management Area 
and the Air Quality and Dust Section of the Environmental Statement provided 
the existing baseline local air quality conditions at the site and a do-minimum 
scenario (predicting traffic flows should the development not proceed).  There 
are also a number of planning conditions attached to control the emission of 
dust during construction. 

In the absence of further guidance on this matter, all of these measures are 
considered to comply with the updated PPG advice on Air Quality. They would 
ensure that there would not be a significant change in air quality during the 
construction and operation phases of the development and that the occupiers 
and users of the development would not experience poor living conditions or 
health due to poor air quality. The very limited degree of weight apportioned to 
the harm caused to air quality in the overall Green Belt balance would 
therefore not materially change. 

A planning condition for a Landscape and Habitat Creation and Management 
Plan already required that the applicant demonstrates how biodiversity net 
gains will be achieved on the site.  This reflected emerging government focus 
on bio-diversity net gain.   

For the reasons above it was therefore advised that the changes within the 
revised NPPF and updated PPG were not so fundamental as to materially 
alter the assessment of this application, the wording of the planning conditions 
or require reassessment by the Planning and Licensing Committee.

As such, the decision was to be issued on the basis of the existing resolution.

56 DETERMINED PLANNING APPEALS
The Head of Planning submitted a report which detailed planning applications 
that had recently been determined by the Planning Inspectorate.

Resolved:
That the planning appeals, which have recently been determined by the 
Planning Inspectorate, be noted.

Page 7



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 18th December 2019
Portfolio Councillor Wardle

Cabinet Member for
Planning,  
Development & 
Housing

Report Author Mark Caine
Public/Private Document Public

Application: 19/01132/FUL Township: Pennines Ward: Smallbridge 
Firgrove

Applicant: Mr Paul Stone Agent: 

Site Address: Land at Moorhouse Fold

Proposal: 
Application for the erection of 5no dwellinghouses and the 
associated external works inclusive of hard and soft landscaping 
and boundary treatments - Part Retrospective

SITE LOCATION

Page 8

Agenda Item 6a



DELEGATION

1.1 The application falls to be determined by the Planning and Licensing 
Committee as the Head of Planning Services considers that it should be 
considered by the Committee in accordance with the Councils Scheme of 
Delegation.

PROPOSAL SUMMARY

2.1 Part retrospective application for the erection of 5no dwellinghouses and the 
associated external works inclusive of hard and soft landscaping and 
boundary treatments.

RECOMMENDATION

3.1 It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves it is 
minded to REFUSE planning permission.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1 The whole scheme has not been constructed in accordance with the plans 
that were approved under planning permission Ref: 16/00530/FUL. A similar 
application was determined in March 2019 (18/01252/FUL) and refused 
under delegated powers. The reasons for this related to the effect of the 
design of development (including the excessive amount of varying window 
proportions, window design, roof materials, and timber fencing) would have 
on the character and appearance of the area and the setting of the nearby 
Listed Building at Moorhouse Farmhouse. The rear dormers were also 
considered to cause significant harm, through overlooking and the loss of 
privacy to the rear habitable windows and rear garden areas of the 
residential properties at No's 35-39 Rochdale Road

In the spirit of positive and proactive working with the applicant, and despite 
planning officer concerns, the LPA has sought a compromise solution, 
whereby the most harmful elements, (which are the rear dormers, the timber 
fencing, and the roof materials) are replaced and altered. However, following 
these discussions, the applicant has confirmed that they are only willing 
remove the rear dormers.

As such the LPA consider that the proposed development would still 
introduce a visually confusing mixture of materials, with bulky interlocking 
concrete roof tiles, and approximate 1.8 metre high timber fencing. These 
were not approved under planning permission Ref: 16/00530/FUL, and would 
thereby appear as a prominent and irregular form of development that would 
be uncharacteristic and conspicuous within its context. It would also visually 
compete with and distract from important views of the Grade II Listed 
Building known as Moorhouse Farmhouse and thereby conflict with Policies 
DM1, P2 and P3 the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the requirements 
of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 9



SITE & BACKGROUND

The application relates to a 0.1 hectare, V-shaped site occupying a corner location at 
the junction of Moorhouse Fold and Fox Street, Milnrow.  It is situated in a residential 
area, which is predominantly characterised by terraced housing that is constructed in 
a mixture of stone and red brick, with pitched and hipped slate roofs.

A grade II listed two-storey stone cottage (Moorhouse Farmhouse) fronts onto a 
route connecting Moorhouse Fold and the cul-de-sac of Moorhouse Farm to the 
northwest corner of the site.

Planning permission for the demolition of light industrial buildings and the erection of 
5 dwellings was granted on the 6 February 2017 (Ref: 16/00530/FUL). 
The development has been substantially constructed; however this has taken place 
prior to the discharge of any pre-commencement conditions. The development has 
also not been constructed in accordance with the approved plans.

Following this planning permission was sought and refused for the 5 dwellings on the 
site (18/01252/FUL), including the insertion of rear dormers, by reason of the 
detrimental impact that the development has on the character and appearance of the 
area, the setting of a Listed Building and the living conditions of the residential 
properties at Nos 35-39 Rochdale Road.

PROPOSAL

The application once again seeks planning permission for the erection of the 5 
dwellings. The form of the development is similar that which was approved under 
planning permission 16/00530/FUL. The properties are organised in two blocks 
which flank the east and western site boundaries. However, the unauthorised rear 
dormers which have been partly constructed are proposed to be removed under this 
proposal.

Therefore, in effect, the main considerations in this application relate to the 
amendments to the design and appearance of the proposed development and the 
associated boundary treatment, the majority of which has already been carried out 
and is in situ. 

These include the introduction of a mixture of stone, red brick materials to the two 
residential blocks. The majority of the gable ends of blocks A and B, which front 
Moorhouse Fold, are faced in stone, with the remainder of these blocks being faced 
in red brick. Both blocks are now also proposed to have grey marley modern 
concrete interlocking tiles. They also have sandstone lintel heads above the upvc 
ground floor windows and doors within the front elevation of the blocks and above 
the ground and first floor windows in the stone faced gable elevations. A protruding 
decorative brick string course is also shown directly below the first floor front and 
rear windows within both blocks.  All windows are proposed to be fitted flush with the 
face of the buildings.

Page 10



The submitted plans also show four velux windows within the front roof plane which 
would result in the creation of 2 additional bedrooms.

The original stone wall that enclosed the western side of the site has been removed 
and replaced with approximate 2 metre high vertical timber fencing.  This, along with 
approximate 1.8m high timber fencing is also now proposed to be erected along the  
Moorhouse Fold frontage wrapping around the rear garden areas of plots 1 and 2 of 
Block A and the parking area to the south of the site.  It is proposed to retain an 
existing concrete pillar and post with timber waney lap panel to the western side of 
the car park.

The site would be accessed via Moorhouse Fold which would lead to a private 
driveway running through the centre and terminating at the southeast corner of the 
site.  One car parking space per plot, and two visitor spaces are also proposed to be 
provided.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 2006:

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area

Rochdale Core Strategy (CS) 2016:

P2 Protecting and Enhancing Character, Landscape and Heritage
P3 Improving Design of New Development
DM1 General Development Requirements
T2 Improving Accessibility

Supplementary Planning Documents: 

Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development (2016)

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

RELEVANT HISTORY

18/01252/FUL - Erection of 5 dwellings – retrospective – refused – 20/03/2019.

16/00530/FUL – Demolition of light industrial buildings and the erection of 5 
dwellings – approved – 31/08/16.

17/00681/DOC – Submission of details to comply with conditions 
3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10,11,12,13,14,15 and 16 of planning permission 16/00530/FUL – 

Page 11



Request completed – the development is unauthorised and the pre-development 
conditions applied for are unable to be discharged - 27/09/18.

18/00473/AM - Section 73 application for a minor material amendment to planning 
permission 16/00530/FUL to create two additional bedrooms within the roof space 
with two rear dormers and alterations to openings at ground and first floor level 
(Block A only) – Refused permission – 16/08/2019.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Conservation and Design – Objects to the proposal. The development site is 
located within the setting of Moorhouse Farmhouse, a Grade II listed building, along 
with forming the setting for a number of non-designated heritage assets. Numbers 1 
& 3 Moorhouse Fold are dwellings which are located within a converted barn which 
is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset, this building can be identified 
on the First Edition O.S. Map. 

A number of residential properties surrounding the site are also deemed to be non-
designated heritage assets due to their age, architectural form and historical values. 
These include: 1-7 Crossley Street (Odds only), 2 – 14 Crossley Street (Evens only), 
29-41 Rochdale Road(Odds only), 43-53 Rochdale Road (Odds only) and 34-42 
Rochdale Road (Evens only). 

Whilst a planning permission was granted within the site, it is clear that the 
constructed buildings have not been built in accordance with the approved plans and 
the applicant and their agent failed to discharge any conditions of this permission. 

A previous application to regularise the works, 18/01252/FUL, was recently refused. 
Since this point the applicant has now removed timber cladding and the dormer 
windows from the proposal. Whilst this has been completed the remaining comments 
from the previous consultation remain:

1. Masonry – the sandstone masonry which has been used to face the gables of 
the buildings is inappropriate. The pitch face finish is uncharacteristic of the 
local vernacular and it is apparent when viewing the buildings that 2 different 
types of sandstone have been used to complete these elements of the 
scheme giving a particularly poor finish. On the returning walls double courses 
of sandstone masonry follow the return around to provide a faux quoin which 
would have been better achieved using larger masonry blocks. 

2. Bricks – The chosen brick, and the inclusion of a decorative string course is 
considered to be inappropriate within this location. A brick which is more in 
keeping with the local vernacular should be sought instead. Furthermore, 
some window lintels are standing soldier brick designs rather than art stone 
like the majority, again providing inconsistency in design.

3. Art stone lintels – the material and form, including a protruding key stone is a 
poorly designed modern interpretation of a classical feature. The architectural 
design of the buildings means the windows at first floor level sit in the wall 

Page 12



head and therefore this feature is missing at this level. This provides an 
awkward relationship between the ground and first floor windows, along with 
those which have brick lintels. It would have been more appropriate for water 
shot sandstone lintels and cills to be used throughout. Furthermore, the 
smoothly faced art stone against the pitch faced sandstone provides an 
uncomplimentary contrast. 

4. Roof – The roof line is uncharacteristically steep and the buildings dominant 
the streetscape because of this. The inclusion of concrete roof tiles does not 
complement the local vernacular which is natural slate and stone slate. It 
would be appropriate for the buildings to be re-roofed with a complementary 
product. 

5. Windows – The windows should have been located within a recessed position 
within the openings which would have given better dimension and animation 
to the elevations. The mix of shapes and sizes makes it difficult to understand 
the influences driving the building design and the omission of the mullion 
feature lack reference to the surrounding historic environment. Roof lights – 
Whilst the roof lights are relatively flush fitting their inclusion draws attention to 
the unusually large roofs. It is noted that the previous permission granted 

6. Doors – The proposed main entrance doors to the properties are composite 
finished in a recessive colour to match the windows. 

7. Fascia and verge – The fascia is overly dominant due to its excessive depth 
which creates a clunky looking feature. This detail sweeps round on to the 
gables providing an excessively deep overhang depth between the roof and 
the wall, this is particularly noticeable on Block B, Plot 3.  

8. Boundary wall – The sweeping curved wall constructed of coursed pitch faced 
sandstone is uncharacteristic of the local area. This feature should be 
removed. 

9. Boundary fences – Close boarded timber fencing is uncharacteristic of the 
area and as such should be replaced by a stone wall in a form matching the 
original one which has been removed, contrary to the previous permission. 

10.Hard surfacing and landscaping – the use of gravel on an eco-grid could be 
appropriate depending upon the chosen product specifications.

In light of the above, the application is recommended for refusal. 

Highways and Engineering – Awaiting consultation response. This will be reported 
via the update report prior to the planning committee meeting.

Public Protection (Air Quality) – No objections subject to the installation of charge 
points in every parking space. These charge points must have a minimum power 
rating output of 7Kw and fitted with a universal socket that can charge all types of 
electric vehicles currently on the market and meet safety and accessibility 
requirements. These charge points must be at least mode 3 or equivalent.

Public Protection (Contamination) – No objections to the proposal.

Page 13



Public Protection (Noise) – No objections to the proposal.

Drainage – No objections subject to a condition for a surface water management 
scheme to be submitted and approved within a reasonable timescale.

United Utilities – No objections subject to the imposition of planning conditions for a 
surface water drainage scheme, the drainage of foul and surface water on separate 
systems, and a sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit – No objections to the application on ecology 
grounds.  The buildings that were demolished had only low potential to support bats.

Transport for Greater Manchester - No objections to the proposal. It falls below the 
quantum of development required for a highways impact assessment. However each 
dwelling should have the provision for cycle parking and tactile paving and dropped 
kerbs should be installed across either side of the site access.

Rights of Way Officer – Whilst the proposal does not affect the right of way of way 
MilFp2299a that runs over land adjacent to the planning area, the applicant should 
be advised that this route should be available prior, during and following the 
development and should not be obstructed with fencing, materials or plant 
machinery.

TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL

There was no Pennines Township Planning Panel Meetings scheduled for November 
2019 and the December Panel Meeting has been re-arranged due to the date 
conflicting with the General Election.

MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS

No member representations have been received.

PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

Objection Reps 4 Support Reps 1 Neutral Reps 0

The application has been publicised in the local press. Site notices have been 
erected in the vicinity of the site and notification letters have also been sent to local 
residents informing them of this planning application. As a result of this 5 letters of 
objection, from 4 local residents, and 1 letter of support have been received. 
The contents of these can be summarised as follows:

Letter of support

 Future buyer from Milnrow wants to upgrade has stated that we need houses 
and this site is better than the horrible car dismantling repair sheds that were 

Page 14



there previous - blocking the road with unsightly damaged vehicles and 
commercial trucks.

 Milnrow already comprises a mixture of materials, styles and designs so is not 
sure what the difference is with this development as it is tucked away and not 
in a conservation area.

 The dormers need to be taken off, the surrounding old wall that was 
demolished should be replaced and formed right round to the development 
entrance and the existing cottage to be rendered appropriately. Aside from 
this once the site and its borders are finished and the houses rain stained in a 
few years they will be great and nothing unusual to other dwellings in Milnrow.

Letters of objection

 The development is at an advanced stage of work with all five properties 
almost complete however the developer seems hell bent on defying the 
planning officer by refusing to carry out essential works to comply with the 
original planning consents dating back to 2015/2016.

 No details are included as to the boundary detail fronting Moorhouse Fold.

 Although the application is made with regard to five premises there are; within 
the boundary of the site; six properties which include the cottage at number 1 
Moorhouse Fold.

 The application refers to two vehicles per premises this would make a total of 
12 vehicles to be accommodated within the site. Where are these to be 
accommodated and how?

 The documentation presented in respect of traffic is out of date and does not 
represent the present number of private vehicles to neighbouring properties 
and significant traffic to and from the school. 

 8 car parking spaces for 5 houses is limited.

 School traffic/vehicles often park infront of our garages and block access.

 There is little or no facility within the development for gardens or defensible 
spaces or places for children to play. In fact the access to the on-site parking 
spaces would necessitate crossing very close to the doorway of number one.

 In the submitted plans the only difference with the previously rejected plans is 
that the dormer windows have been removed.

Page 15



 The roof profile has not been reduced as was required and there is still within 
the roof space scope to provide accommodation again previously rejected.

 The builders can’t even build a temporary fence without it falling down each 
week.  How many times do I have to move it from blocking the road?

 Concerns that temporary fence will be altered to allow a gate and access to 
rear garden area for bin storage.

 An old oil slump has been emptied into the ground during construction.

 If application is refused urges immediate demolition.  If it is approved urge that 
any conditions are rigidly applied.

Officer response: The local resident’s concerns, where they form material planning 
considerations, are covered in the main body of this report.

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development

1. The principle of residential development on this site, and the shape, form and 
layout of the development has already been established through the previous 
extant planning permission (16/00530/FUL) for five dwellings and is therefore 
considered to be acceptable.  

Design

2. Following the refusal of planning permission of the previous application 
(18/01252/FUL) discussions took place with the applicant’s agent in respect of 
potential alterations that would overcome the previous reasons for refusal.  
A number of potential revisions have been discussed. However, the applicant 
only proposes to remove the unauthorised rear dormers under this application.

3. The surrounding area is predominantly characterised by rows of terraced housing 
that are constructed in either natural stone or red brick, with pitched or hipped 
slate roofs. Many of these share other distinctive features such as recessed 
vertically aligned ground and first floor windows, which provide balanced and 
symmetrical facades.  Moreover, the semi-detached cottage, at 1 Moorhouse 
Fold, which sits within the heart of the site and remains largely untouched, and 
like a number of other properties in the area contains traditional timber mullion 
windows.

4. It is recognised that the previously approved scheme was of an unusual stepped 
profile design with differing window sizes. However this did incorporate some 
traditional features and characteristics that are prevalent in the surrounding area. 

Page 16



These included stone slate roofs and first floor windows divided by mullions. 
Planning conditions were also attached to the permission in an attempt to ensure 
that materials, including the use of natural stone in the elevational treatment and 
the site boundary treatment were provided. Details of the windows and doors, 
including their materials, recesses and opening profiles were also required to be 
submitted to and approved by the LPA.

5. However, the proposed development does not incorporate any of these details 
and the planning conditions attached to the original permission were not 
discharged. Instead, the scheme, which has been substantially constructed, 
comprises a visually confusing mixture of materials, bulky interlocking concrete 
roof tiles, and randomly positioned decorative features. 

6. As previously noted, discussions have taken place between the LPA and the 
applicant in an attempt to overcome planning officer concerns. The LPA is 
mindful that the size, shape and profile of the building is largely consistent with 
what was previously granted planning permission (Ref: 18/01252/FUL). As such 
they are reluctantly of the view that it would be difficult to resist granting planning 
permission for a scheme which showed the bulky interlocking marley modern roof 
materials to be replaced by natural slate, and the introduction of a robust 
attractively designed 1.8m high natural stone wall to replace the existing means 
of enclosure. The applicant was given the opportunity to revise the scheme to 
take account of this advice but has chosen not to do so. The LPA therefore has 
no other alternative than to maintain its view that the proposed development 
appears as a prominent, unsympathetic and irregular form of development that 
would be uncharacteristic and conspicuous within its context.

7. Therefore, for the reasons provided above, the proposal would fall significantly 
short of the expectations of CS Policies DM1 and P3.  Amongst other things, 
these require all development proposals to be of high quality design, taking the 
opportunity to enhance the quality of the area, by respecting context where it is 
positive and having regard to the scale, density, massing, height, layout, and 
landscape in general. 

8. Paragraph 124 of the Framework also advises that good design is a key aspect 
of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and 
help make development acceptable to communities.  For the reasons provided 
above it is also that the proposal would amount to poor design under paragraphs 
124 and 130 of the Framework.

Heritage

9. The application site is located in proximity to a Grade II listed building known as 
Moorhouse Farmhouse (the listed building).  In accordance with the statutory 

Page 17



duty set out in Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (S66), special regard must be paid to the desirability of 
preserving listed buildings or their settings or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which they may possess.

10.The listed building comprises a two-storey dwelling house finished in natural 
stone (with larger quoins to the corners) and a stone slab roof. The building’s 
elevations include a series of triple-pane ‘Pennine’ timber windows divided by flat 
stone mullions. The building’s principal frontage faces south onto Moorhouse 
Fold, with areas of its curtilage to the east side and rear (north) comprising a 
combination of hard and soft landscaping. A random stone boundary wall 
reaching some 1.25 metres in height follows the curvature of the building’s 
eastern and northern boundaries and is backed by taller conifers reaching 
approximately 4 metres in height.

11.The listing description is as follows:

12.Farmhouse.  Late C18.  Hammer-dressed watershot stone with graduated stone 
slate roof.  Double-depth plan with 2 bays and 2 storeys.  Quoins.  Central 
square-cut door surround flanked by 3-light flat-faced stone mullion windows 
each with one mullion removed.  10-light workshop window on first floor with 1 
mullion removed, 4 blocked lights and a continuous sill band.  Gable chimney 
stacks.  Rear partly obscured by a later addition, has 3-light windows on the 
upper floor (each with a mullion removed).  The adjoining farm buildings are not 
included in this entry.

13.The significance of this heritage asset is therefore considered to derive from its 
special architectural detailing and interest.

14.The setting of a heritage asset is defined in the Glossary to the Framework:

15. “The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed
and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting
may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may
affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral.”

16. It is acknowledged that the setting of this listed building already includes terrace 
housing at close quarters and that the previously approved application 
(16/00530/FUL) was considered to respect the character and setting, and not 
harm the significance of the listed building. However, this view was taken on the 
basis of the negative contribution that the now demolished garage buildings had 
on its setting at the time of the application. This is no longer the case as they 
have been removed.  

Page 18



17.The development is situated only approximately 19 metres away from the listed 
building and whilst it does not conceal any of it architectural features, its close 
proximity to the site results in it clearly forming a part of the surroundings in which 
the heritage asset is experienced. The Conservation Officer has been consulted 
and has raised a number of concerns about the uncharacteristic materials and 
features that have been used in the development. These include the roof, fascia 
and verges, windows, and boundary treatment and are thereby consistent with 
those set out in the design section of this report.  

18.As previously mentioned, the LPA are of the opinion that the previous approval of 
the site under Ref: 16/00530/FUL would make it difficult to argue against some of 
the features i.e the windows, fascia and verges at any subsequent appeal. 
However the roof materials and design and appearance of the timber fencing is 
such that they would visually compete with and distract from important views of 
this designated heritage asset. As a result it negatively contributes to and causes 
material harm to the experience of the asset within its setting. It therefore does 
not preserve the setting of the listed building, which in accordance with S66 the 
LPA is required to have special regard.

19.This harm is considered to be less than substantial, but nevertheless of 
considerable overall importance and weight.  Where any harm to the significance 
of designated heritage assets would be less than substantial, paragraph 196 of 
the Framework states that this harm should be weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal.  No public benefits have been advanced in the 
applicant’s heritage statement, and therefore would not outweigh the harm that 
would be caused to the significance and setting of the listed building as a 
designated heritage asset.

20.For the reasons provided above the proposal would therefore conflict with the CS 
Policies DM1, P2 and P3. Amongst other things, these require developments to 
respect context where it is positive and have regard to density, layout, landscape 
and access of surrounding buildings and areas in general as well as protecting, 
conserving and enhancing the Borough’s key heritage assets.

Living conditions

21.The unauthorised rear dormers that have been constructed on Block A are now 
proposed to be removed and replaced with 4 velux windows.

22.The submitted plans show there to be one additional second floor bedroom within 
the roof space of each of the two properties in Block A. Whilst these would only 
be served by rooflights there would be 2 roof lights positioned within the front roof 
plane, and 2 in rear roof place of each of these properties. Given the size of the 

Page 19



bedrooms, the LPA is satisfied that these would ensure that they would not 
appear overly dark or gloomy as there would be sufficient natural light. 

23.The cill heights of the rear roof lights also measure around 1.7 metres, which 
would result in much of the outlook from these being of the sky. Whilst outward 
views from these windows when standing would be possible for some people the 
level of outlook and privacy levels of the residents of No's 35-39 Rochdale Road 
are not considered to be limited to such a degree as to warrant the refusal of the 
application on this basis. The LPA are therefore satisfied that sufficient 
separation distances and relationships between proposed and existing properties 
would also ensure that the living conditions of neighbouring residents and future 
occupiers would not be unduly effected.

24.The Council’s Public Protection Section have also been consulted and not raised 
any objections in regards to potential noise and disturbance.

25.As such it is considered that in this respect, the proposal would comply with CS 
Policy DM1, which amongst other things, requires all development proposals to 
not adversely affect the amenity of residents or users through visual intrusion, 
overbearing impact, and loss of privacy.

Access, Highways and Parking

26.The Council’s Highway Section has been consulted in respect of the car parking 
provision, manoeuvrability within the site and highway safety. 

27.The development site falls below accepted standards for the adoption of roads by 
the Council.  However, they state that design standards do allow small sections 
of localised narrowing and the impact of the traffic movements is also considered 
to be low for this site.

28.Although they originally objected to the scheme, having reviewed the planning 
history of the site and the previous consultation responses from the highways 
section they do not consider that they could sustain an objection on highway 
grounds.

29.Whilst they have not suggested any conditions, it is considered that those 
attached to the previous consent would also be reasonable and necessary in this 
instance (if the application was recommended for approval).  These included the 
requirement for the submission of schemes to be approved for the design, 
construction and drainage details of the new estate road and car parking areas, 
for the details of the locations of bollards, and to widen the carriageway of 
Moorhouse Fold and the realignment of the footway along the site’s frontage. 
Subject to these conditions, the proposal would comply with the requirements of 
CS policies T2 and DM1.

Contamination, drainage and ecology

Page 20



30.The Council’s contaminated land officer and drainage officer have been 
consulted and have both raised no objections in regards to contaminated land 
and drainage matters.  However the drainage officer’s response requires the 
submission and approval of a detailed drainage scheme.  United Utilities have 
also not raised any objections subject to conditions for a surface water drainage 
scheme, the drainage of foul and surface water to be on separate systems, and a 
sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan.

31.The GMEU has not raised any objections on ecology grounds as the buildings 
that were demolished had only low potential to support bats.

32. In these respects the proposal would comply with CS Policies G7, G8, G9 and 
Saved UPD Policies EM/7 and EM/8. In combination these seek, amongst other 
things, to recognise and protect sites and features of biodiversity importance, 
mange water resources and flood risk, and reduce the impact on pollution and 
contamination.

Conclusion

33. In conclusion, the LPA has entered into discussions with the applicant to achieve 
a compromise solution. However, the applicant has confirmed that they are only 
willing to remove the rear dormers. The LPA therefore has no other alternative 
than to maintain its view that the proposed development appears as a prominent, 
unsympathetic and irregular form of development that would be uncharacteristic 
and conspicuous within its context. It would also visually compete with and 
distract from important views of the Grade II Listed Building known as Moorhouse 
Farmhouse and thereby conflict with Policies DM1, P2 and P3 the adopted 
Rochdale Core Strategy and the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves it is minded 
to REFUSE planning permission for the following reasons:

1. The proposed development would introduce a visually confusing mixture of 
materials and would appear as a prominent and irregular form of 
development that would be uncharacteristic and conspicuous within its 
context. It would therefore not constitute high quality design and have a 
significantly harmful effect on the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area. It would also visually compete with and distract from 
important views of the Grade II Listed Building known as Moorhouse 
Farmhouse. No public benefits are considered to outweigh the less than 
substantial harm that this would cause to the significance and setting of this 
designated heritage asset.  As such it would thereby not preserve the setting 

Page 21



of the Listed Building and thereby conflict with Policies DM1, P2 and P3 of 
the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the requirements of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

2. By reason of its siting, materials and design the approximate 1.8 metre high 
timber fencing would present an unsympathetic and strident hard edge that 
would be out of keeping with and significantly harmful to the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area. It would also visually compete with and 
distract from important views of the Grade II Listed Building known as 
Moorhouse Farmhouse. No public benefits are considered to outweigh the 
less than substantial harm that this would cause to the significance and 
setting of this designated heritage asset. As such it would thereby not 
preserve the setting of the Listed Building and thereby conflict with Policies 
DM1, P2 and P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 22



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 5 March 2020
Portfolio Councillor Wardle

Cabinet Member for
Planning,  
Development & 
Housing

Report Author Emma Heron
Public/Private Document Public

Application: 19/00628/OUT Township: Pennines Ward: Castleton

Applicant: C/O Agent Agent: Indigo Planning

Site Address: Farrel Ltd, Queensway, Rochdale, OL11 2NY

Proposal: 
Outline application (including means of access) for the demolition of 
redundant buildings and residential development for up to 100 
dwellings

SITE LOCATION

Page 23

Agenda Item 6b



DELEGATION

1.1 The application falls to be determined by the Planning and Licensing 
Committee as it comprises major development and is a departure from 
Development Plan policy

PROPOSAL SUMMARY

2.1 Demolition of redundant buildings, and residential development for up to 100 
dwellings. Outline application (including means of access)

RECOMMENDATION

3.1 It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves it is 
minded to GRANT Planning Permission subject to conditions and subject to the 
prior signing of a S106 legal agreement to include:
1:

(i) Financial contributions of £308,000.25 towards Primary education;

(ii) Where ‘no net loss’ of biodiversity cannot be demonstrated through the 
reserved matters submission and mitigation strategy, a payment for 
a financial contribution towards biodiversity off-setting, shall be 
triggered, the formula for which shall be based on the DEFRA off-set 
matrices;

(iii)  The provision and future maintenance of recreational open space 
within the site, in accordance with the Council’s policies;

(iv)  Financial contributions towards off-site highway improvement:
 £3,000 – dropped crossings / tactile paving at access points
 £20,000 – raised tables and extended 20mph zone on Newchurch Street
 £6,000 – Footway reinstatement at junction with Queensway and lighting
 £4,000 – TRO review along Newchurch Street

2:
(v) A mechanism to ensure any affordable housing is to be provided on 
site; details shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

3: Clause that if the housing site is delivered but there is no investment in                                                                                                                                                                         
Farrel’s:

(vi)  Contributions towards Outdoor Sports Provision, in accordance with 
the Council policies, 

(vii)   A financial contribution of £154,000.10 towards Secondary education 
or the investment,

(viii) Where affordable housing is not secured through a reserved matters 
submission, a commuted sum payment made, in accordance with the 
Council’s policies;

to be paid.

Page 24



And that the Head of Planning Services is authorised to GRANT planning 
permission upon execution of the above S106 agreement subject to 
conditions. 

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1

4.2

The proposal is acceptable in principle, the access details are acceptable, 
and the site is capable of accommodating a residential use. Issues relating to 
design, neighbour amenity, and biodiversity mitigation can be considered in 
detail at reserved matters stage. Contaminated land, drainage and other 
matters are the subject of conditions of planning permission. The significant 
employment benefits arising from off-setting the costs for outdoor sports 
provision, secondary education and affordable housing weigh significantly in 
favour of the scheme.

Whilst the development does not comply with Core Strategy policies 
pertaining to infrastructure contributions, the proposal accords with other 
Core Strategy policies and the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
contributions would be used to maximise funds to invest back into the 
business, leading to significant local employment benefits. Such benefits 
satisfy the National Planning Policy Frameworks requirement to have 
significant regard to support economic growth and productivity (paragraph 
80).

Page 25



SITE

The application relates to land at the rear of Farrels Ltd, an industrial premises on 
Queensway, Castleton.  To the west of the site is the main Farrel Ltd building 
complex, to the south is Castleton Primary School playing field and further south and 
to the west is a residential area.

The application site comprises the existing staff car park of Farrel, a small staff 
amenity area consisting of grass, seating and a pond, the site of an existing large 
building within the premises (named in the application as ‘Harp Mill’) another smaller 
plant building, and a large area of fenced off land to the rear of Farrel which is 
significantly overgrown. This land has been fenced off for many years and is 
previously undeveloped.

BACKGROUND

Farrel Ltd is a large-scale manufacturing company providing machinery for rubber 
and plastics processing for the tyre industry. The company is a significant local 
employer, with an existing workforce of 166 staff, supporting a further 45 jobs 
through their local supply chain. Staff training and development is a significant factor 
in the business philosophy.

The applicant has advised that millions of pounds have been invested in machinery 
and technology over recent years, however there is a need to invest in the physical 
fabric of the buildings and adapt them to provide the right quality of space in order to 
operate efficiently and justify remaining on site, in Rochdale and the UK.

Some of the buildings on site are in a poor state of repair with one in particular that 
dominates the Queensway frontage being unusable due to damp ingress and a 
failing roof. Other buildings are not utilised to their full potential or are problematic 
due to differing floor levels. The applicant advises that the company must therefore 
invest in the existing facilities or find an alternative site which better suits the 
operational needs. They advise that there are substantial incentives for Farrell to 
relocate to low cost markets, yet at the same time Castleton offers a skilled and local 
workforce and a relocation would involve substantial costs. The investment in the 
premises, (comprising refurbishment and a modern office extension amongst other 
things would amount to over £8m, and would enable Farrel Ltd to recruit even more 
staff, offer 4 new apprenticeships per year, and increase the quality of staff training 
and development.

The refurbishment works that Farrel must invest in, and briefly described above, form 
part of a separate planning application (19/00629/FUL). However, in order to part-
fund those works, the applicant has advised that they need to release value from the 
surplus land within their ownership (ie. this application site) through seeking consent 
for residential use. That is the basis for this application. 

A similar enabling case was proposed in 2008, and subsequently approved in 2011 
(08/D51129), with a S106 legal agreement allowing either the S106 affordable 
housing contribution to be paid, or the equivalent sum reinvested into the business 
premises. Since that time however, the planning permission has expired, a new Core 
Strategy has been adopted setting out clear expectations in respect of planning 

Page 26



obligations, including the need for education contributions. These matters are 
covered within the main assessment.

PROPOSAL

The proposal is an outline planning application, for the demolition of a building 
currently used as offices and indicated within the planning application as ‘Harp Mill’, 
plus a smaller plant building, and residential development for up to 100 dwellings. 
Access is detailed, and all other matters are reserved. The access is proposed to be 
taken from Newchurch Street via the existing service road that serves Farrel Ltd. A 
secondary access for emergency vehicles only, would be taken from the narrow lane 
to the north of Farrels Ltd. 

The submitted Parameters Plan indicates a residential area of 2.1 hectares.

Part of the site comprises staff car parking. The parking area would be re-located to 
a derelict piece of land within the applicant’s ownership, to the south of the 
premises. The staff car park is included in the separate planning application, 
19/00629/FUL.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (CS):

SD1 Delivering Sustainable Development
SP1 Rochdale Borough’s Role in the City Region
SP2 The Spatial Strategy for the Borough
SP3/RThe Strategy for Rochdale
DM1 General Development Requirements

E2 Increasing Jobs and Prosperity
E3 Focussing on Economic Growth Corridors and Areas

P1 Improving Image
P2 Protecting and Enhancing Character, Landscape and Heritage
P3 Improving Design of New Development

G1 Tackling and Adapting to Climate Change
G2 Energy and New Development
G7 Increasing the Value of Biodiversity and Geodiversity
G8 Managing Water Resources and Flood Risk
G9 Reducing the Impact of Pollution, Contamination and Land instability

T2 Improving Accessibility

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
EC/2 Primary Employment Zone

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):

Page 27



Supplementary Planning Guidance note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development’ (June 2016).

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

RELEVANT HISTORY

08/D51071 – Alterations to factory elevations and servicing and access 
arrangements and construction of new car park. Approved 12 November 2008.

08/D51129 – Outline application (including means of access) for residential 
development (128 dwellings). Approved 28 July 2011 subject to a legal agreement.

11/D54814 – Application for a new planning permission to replace extant planning 
permission D51071 for alterations to factory elevations, servicing, access 
arrangements and construction of new car park. Approved 21 November 2011.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Rochdale Development Agency - Farrel have been based on Queensway since 
1906 and are now under German ownership. They are the leading manufacturer of 
mixing systems for processing tyre components, exporting more than 95% of their 
products overseas.

The current building is no longer fit for purpose and the proposed new development 
will help them maintain their competitiveness and grow their market share still 
further. The site is within an established employment area which has good transport 
links and the company is keen to remain here. They currently employ 166 staff 
across the site, as well as supports a further 45 jobs through their local supply chain. 
The investment of over £8m in the new building will enable them to recruit new staff, 
and offer 4 new apprenticeships per year across all levels (including one at university 
level). They have a skilled workforce and invest heavily in staff training and 
development.

The current site is very close to a residential area, and the proposed development 
will enable HGVs to be taken away from the local streets improving road safety. It 
will also help with access to the adjacent primary school. 

The RDA supports the proposed plans as part of our ongoing desire to see a centre 
for advanced manufacturing in the borough.

We are aware the company is considering other sites overseas which would result in 
significant job losses in the area. This would have a detrimental effect both in the 
immediate area – and also for some of the businesses within the supply chain.

The Canal and River Trust - No comments to make

Page 28



Conservation And Design - The application is supported for approval. The proposal 
will have a neutral impact on the designated and non-designated heritage assets 
(NPPF, paragraph 192).

Env Health - Air Quality -   No public rights of way or Air Quality impacts that 
prevent this development from being approved, subject to a Dust Management Plan 
and installation of electric vehicle charging points.

Env Health - Noise/Odours - Satisfied that the internal noise levels can be achieved 
through mitigation (conditioned with post completion verification). However, the 
lowest practicable noise levels in external areas of 58dB9 (A) have not been 
demonstrated so this section cannot support the proposal in its current form. This is 
in line with guidance BS 8233 2014. 

Environmental Control (Landfill Gas) - Groundwater contamination has been 
identified. EA should be invited to comment. Report is acceptable. A site 
investigation condition is appropriate.  

Environment Agency - Our advice is to address the issue of PCBs, and this can be 
done either prior or after approval. The submitted technical reports provide the EA 
with confidence that it will be possible to sustainably manage the risk to controlled 
waters by this development. Conditions are recommended in relation to site 
investigation, no ground infiltration of surface water unless supported by a risk 
assessment, no piling without express conent of the LPA. Advice is also set out with 
regards to Waste. 

Gtr Manchester Ecology Unit - the outline proposal will result in a net loss of 
biodiversity on-site. Further discussion is required regarding how no net loss will be 
achieved. Other issues relating to bats, nesting birds and invasive species can be 
resolved via condition and/or informative.  

Natural England - No objection

GMP - Design For Security - No comments to make. 

GM Fire Service - the proposal should meet the requirements for Fire Service 
access. Advice is given with regards to layout and access for fire appliances. 
Domestic sprinklers would be supported. 

Highways And Engineering - No objection to this proposal and recommend 
approval subject to a contribution of £4,000 towards a TRO for waiting restrictions on 
Newchurch Street and a 20mph zone on the new residential roads.

Transport For Greater Manchester - It is accepted that several mitigation 
measures set out by TfGM cannot be justified in planning terms. 

Lead Local Flood Authority/Drainage – No objection subject to conditions.

United Utilities - Standard conditions are recommended with regards to surface 
water drainage. Additional standing advice is also included.

TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL

Page 29



The application was presented to the Rochdale Township Planning Panel in 
September 2019; Members requested the negotiation of S106 money, then they 
would have no objections.

MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS

No representations have been received from Members.

PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

Objection Reps 3 Support Reps 0 Neutral Reps 0

Public representations are summarised as follows:

 The green area is the best example of urban nature conservation. Development 
would result in loss of habitat, wildlife and trees.

 Development would exacerbate issues of overpopulation, rise in criminal 
incidents.

 Increased flood risk

 Increased traffic

 Noise and disturbance from construction 

 Neighbour amenity concerns (proximity to existing homes).

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development

1. The site is located in the Defined Urban Area (saved policy G/D/1) in the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP). G/D/1 establishes that new 
development should be located in the urban area, so as to support urban 
regeneration and protect the open countryside. 

2. With the exception of the Farrel Ltd staff car park, and ‘Harp Mill’ site, the 
majority of land proposed for residential development is previously 
undeveloped ‘greenfield’ land, within the Primary Employment Zone as 
defined in the Unitary Development Plan. Residential development is 
therefore a departure from local plan policy. 

3. Whilst the site is included in the Allocations DPD for housing, this document 
carries limited weight at the current time given its draft status. Also, the 
previous planning permission for housing has lapsed, and carries no weight in 
consideration of the application. For these reasons the proposal must be 
considered afresh, taking account of updated Local Plan policies, and a case 
must be made to demonstrate the sites suitability for housing rather than 
employment. 

Page 30



4. The spatial strategy for the Borough (CS Policy SP2) seeks to focus housing 
delivery within the south of the borough in the Manchester fringe. The 
Council’s housing priority for the south of the borough is to maximise the 
opportunities that exist to provide new housing in sustainable locations; 
deliver homes in regeneration areas and focus new housing in or close to 
economic growth corridors/areas and town centres (Core Strategy policy C1). 
Policy C1 also recognises that the development of appropriate greenfield sites 
within the urban area can constitute sustainable development and that such 
proposals will be considered flexibly provided that the sites have limited green 
infrastructure value and their development would not adversely impact on 
amenity. Green infrastructure is detailed in Core Strategy policy G6 and 
includes green spaces, existing trees and water bodies. 

5. With regards green infrastructure, whilst the majority of the site is enclosed, 
inaccessible and overgrown, the trees within the site have clear amenity value 
when viewed from the wider area, as a respite from the surrounding 
development and as an attractive green border to the well-used track to the 
north that provides a link between the residential area and Queensway. The 
pond is also an area of note. 

6. The retention of some trees, and mitigation for the loss of green infrastructure 
can be considered as part of a comprehensive landscaping scheme at 
reserved matters stage. Additionally, the site is in a sustainable location, 
reasonably well served by public transport and local facilities. As such it is 
considered that the site is capable of complying with Core Strategy policy G6 
and the spatial strategy for the borough and is acceptable in principle.

7. A key issue which must be considered in detail is the enabling case and 
development viability, which is discussed below.

Enabling case and viability

8. The NPPF states that where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions 
expected from development planning applications that comply with them 
should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate 
whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at 
the application stage. The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a 
matter for the decision maker, having regard to all the circumstances in the 
case. 

9. In the circumstances of this application, it is considered that a pragmatic 
‘lighter touch’ review of viability is appropriate, given the enabling case 
presented, that contributions must be re-invested into the refurbishment and 
extension works proposed under application 19/00629/FUL. This is in order to 
maximise the finances available to undertake the work, and in so doing retain 
and expand a significant local workforce.

Page 31



10.The costs to deliver the business improvement scheme (application 
19/00629/FUL), would be £8,186,711. The viability appraisal shows a -9% 
profit if all contributions required by Core Strategy policy are required to be 
paid. The applicant advises that 50% of the funding for the scheme needs to 
be secured through the sale of the land proposed for residential development, 
with reduced contributions. Specifically, no secondary education, outdoor 
sports provision, or affordable housing contributions.

11. If approved, with reduced contributions, the proposed development would 
enable the applicant to raise funds to undertake the major upgrading and 
refurbishment works to the main employment premises. Supporting 166 
existing jobs and helping to create new jobs. Without these upgrades the 
applicant may need to relocate outside the borough, and potentially outside of 
the UK to lower cost markets.

12.The required contributions that will be incorporated in the S106 agreement 
are, primary education, funding for highway works,  potential biodiversity off-
setting, and on-site public open space.

13.At the current time, there is a significant need for primary school places, with 
Castleton being a priority area. Additionally, the residential scheme must 
deliver off-site highway works in order to be accepted by the Highway 
Authority. The proposal therefore provides contributions in respect of these 
infrastructure requirements, to offset harm. The local planning authority also 
requires no net loss of biodiversity (a requirement of the NPPF), which must 
be provided as an off-site contribution or provided on site at reserved matters 
stage. Public open space would be provided on site. It is acknowledged that 
affordable housing may ultimately be provided on site, but this cannot be 
taken into account at this stage, as the applicant is not in a position to commit 
to funding affordable housing.

14.Officers have taken into account the significant employment benefits that 
would arise from the scheme in recommending that the remaining 
contributions can be foregone providing the investment is made in Farrel’s. 
Members may also wish to note that Farrel’s previously secured planning 
permission in 2011 for a similar proposal (outline planning permission 
08/D51129), and which was subject to a similar legal agreement as that now 
proposed. This prioritised affordable housing, as that was the greater need for 
the area at that time. The 2009 market collapse followed, the scheme was 
‘shelved’ and the planning permission lapsed.

Conclusion on enabling case and viability

15.On the basis of the above viability and enabling case, it is considered that the 
scheme can be recommended for approval despite the lack of outdoor sports 
and secondary education contributions, and affordable housing provision 

Page 32



given the importance of retaining a key local employer and advanced 
manufacturing company.

Access and highway safety

16.The proposal would utilise the existing access at the end of Newchurch Street 
for all residential properties, with a secondary access to Queensway for 
emergency vehicles only (restricted by way of bollards). The proposal and 
submitted Transport Statement is acceptable to the Highway Authority, 
providing that a legal agreement funds a Traffic Regulation Order for waiting 
restrictions on Newchurch Street in the interests of highway safety. This is 
due to the increase in traffic the development would cause, particularly during 
the school drop-off and pick-up. Other issues such as parking ratios would be 
considered at reserved matters stage.

17.Transport for Greater Manchester have requested a number of measures in 
the vicinity of the development, some of which the applicant has agreed to. 
The costs of these measures are outlined in the Contributions section of this 
report. Financial contributions would be obtained by way of S106 agreement, 
with the works carried out through a S278 agreement.

18.The re-surfacing of the junction of Queensway/Manchester Road, dropped 
crossings and tactile paving at surrounding junctions are not considered 
necessary to mitigate the impacts, or related in scale or kind to the 
development proposed, and as such TfGM has conceded that these are not 
necessary.

19.With regards to connectivity, it is considered important to incorporate a 
footpath/cycle pedestrian link to the well-used informal lane to the north of the 
site. This would negate the need for a long route round to Queensway from 
the Newchurch Street side. As layout is yet to be determined, this will be 
required as a condition of any planning approval.

20.Overall, the outline proposal is considered to be in accordance with Core 
Strategy policy T2 and the NPPF.

Design and layout

21.All detailed design elements fall to be determined at reserved matters stage. 
The detail submitted with the outline application is a parameters plan. It is 
considered that the site is capable of accommodating a residential scheme of 
up to 100 homes or less. Given the green infrastructure value of the site, any 
layout proposal must incorporate public open space, good quality landscaping 
and tree retention, together with connectivity to existing paths as described in 
the ‘Access and Highway Safety’ section above. Where retention of trees is 
not possible, at least 2 for 1 replacement will be required by condition of any 
planning approval. The above requirements would have a bearing on the 

Page 33



number of houses capable of being built on the site, and would be a reserved 
matters consideration.

22. It is considered that the development is capable of compliance with Core 
Strategy policies DM1, C1 and G6 and the NPPF in this regard.

Neighbour Amenity

23.The detailed reserved matters scheme must demonstrate that the homes will 
not impact adversely on the amenities of existing residents on Alder Road and 
that the industrial use of Farrel Ltd, will not have an adverse impact on the 
occupiers of the homes by way of noise and disturbance. Concern has been 
raised by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer in respect of the noise 
impacts to external areas within the proposal site. The detailed scheme must 
include a Noise Impact Assessment that can satisfactorily demonstrate that 
noise levels can be mitigated, in a manner that is also visually acceptable.

24.On the basis of the above it is considered that the proposal is capable of 
complying with Core Strategy policy DM1 and the NPPF.

Biodiversity

Impacts
25.With regards to bat protection, no evidence of bats was found in the buildings 

to be demolished and it was found to have negligible bat roosting potential. 
GMEU supports this conclusion and recommends an informative to remind 
the applicant of the Habitats Regulation requirements. A further bat survey 
would also be required if demolition were to occur after 30th April 2021 (which 
would then render the submitted bat survey out of date).

26. In respect of the proposed removal of the existing pond, the Phase 1 
ecological survey identifies this asset as low risk for Great Crested Newts. 
Further survey work, and mitigation would be required as part of any 
subsequent reserved matters application, to ensure adequate protection is 
accorded to such species as marginal and aquatic plants, amphibians, nesting 
birds and invertebrates. 

27.Additional conditions would also be required in relation to a nesting bird 
survey prior to any tree removal, and a methodology for eradication / control 
of invasive species (rhododendron and monbretia).

28.With regards to trees, GMEU accepts that the majority of trees have limited 
merit, with the exception of a large oak and two mature birch trees, which are 
likely to be lost as a result of development. The layout of any new 
development should therefore be such that sufficient tree and shrub planting 
can compensate for the losses. The above would be required as part of the 
landscaping reserved matter.

Net Gain

Page 34



29.Section 170 of the NPPF 2019 states that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment.  Approximately 
half the site is semi-natural consisting of widespread and common habitats 
assessed as being of moderate ecological value.  The only higher value 
habitat is the pond.  It is likely that the majority of these habitats are in poor 
condition.  The rest of the site has negligible to very low ecological value.  
GMEU is of the opinion that the development would result in a net loss of 
biodiversity as a result of development. This would not accord with the NPPF 
requirement of no net loss. 

30.Given the above concern, a mitigation strategy was submitted by the 
applicant, setting out proposals for on-site mitigation. This includes 15 bird 
nest boxes, 20 bat bricks, a scheme for 2 species rich native hedgerows, the 
details of which would be secured by condition. GMEU conclude that the 
proposal still represents a loss of biodiversity, even with the proposed 
mitigation measures, and advise that an estimated contribution towards off-
site mitigation of between £17,000 and £25,000 would be required.  The 
applicant does not concur with this view, and advise that they consider that 
the strategy ensures no net loss of biodiversity. 

31.As this application has been submitted in outline, it is considered that a 
detailed mitigation strategy is capable of being incorporated into a reserved 
matters application, for example through the landscaping scheme, with a 
proviso written into the S106 legal agreement, that a contribution towards off-
site mitigation is required if no net loss cannot be demonstrated. 

32.On the basis of the above mechanism, the proposal is considered capable of 
according with Core Strategy policy G6 and the NPPF.  

Contaminated land

33.The application is accompanied by Phase I and II risk assessments, which are 
accepted by the Council’s Environmental Protection Officer and Environment 
Agency, subject to a condition of planning permission, requiring a suitable 
completion report that also addresses the issue of Polychlorinated Biphenyls 
(PCBs), and the risk to controlled waters.

34.Subject to the above, the proposal is considered to accord with Core Strategy 
Policy G8 and the NPPF.

Drainage

35.The site is within Flood Zone 1 and at low risk of flooding from other sources. 

36.The Drainage Engineer is satisfied that the development will not lead to 
increased flood risk elsewhere, subject to conditions requiring separate 
systems for foul and surface water, and full details of a surface water drainage 
scheme to be submitted and approved, including sustainable drainage 
systems and suitable attenuation methods where appropriate.

Page 35



37. It is considered that adequate regard has been paid to drainage and flood risk 
matters, subject to a detailed scheme being required by condition, and the 
proposal is in accordance with Core Strategy policy G8 and the NPPF.

Planning Obligations

38.Policy DM2 of the Core Strategy sets out that the Council will require 
developers to provide, or contribute towards the cost of providing, any 
physical and social infrastructure that is needed because of proposed 
development. For residential development, the Core Strategy specifically 
requires contributions towards affordable housing (Policy C4), Public Open 
Space and outdoor sports provision and maintenance (Policy G6) and 
education provision (policy C7).

39.The below sets out the full policy requirement for contributions, however 
members should note the commentary provided in the ‘enabling case and 
viability’ section of this report.

Affordable housing

40. In accordance with the provisions of Core Strategy policy C4 and the 
Council’s Affordable Housing SPD, the scheme should provide 15% of homes 
on-site as affordable housing or 7.5% of Gross Development Value (GDV) to 
be provided as a commuted sum in lieu of on-site provision.

41.The applicant advises that it is likely that 7.5% gross development sales value 
would be affordable, and that it is more likely that the site would deliver closer 
to 100% affordable homes. However the provision of affordable housing 
cannot be taken account of as a significant benefit of the scheme as such a 
provision is not guaranteed, and no control over affordable housing provision 
is proposed. For this reason, this is contrary to development plan policy and is 
presented in further detail in the ‘Enabling Case and Viability’ section above.

Public open space and formal sports 

42.The Council’s Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD 
states that for developments of more than 100 bedrooms, open space 
provision on site would be expected. The document notes however, that 
payment of a commuted sum towards off-site provision may be accepted, 
including on tight urban sites. In this case the applicant has agreed to the 
provision of on-site POS calculated on the basis of the number of units / 
bedrooms. This requirement will be included as part of the S106 legal 
agreement.

43.With regards outdoor sports provision, this is calculated based on the 
Council’s standard of 1.1 hectares per 1,000 population (i.e. 1,000 bedrooms) 
and based on the current table of charges. The applicant is not proposing to 
provide an Outdoor Sports contribution, and seeks to reinvest the sum into the 
owner’s retained property. This is contrary to development plan policy and is 
presented in further detail in the ‘Enabling Case and Viability’ section above.

Page 36



Education

44.Core Strategy policy C7 seeks developer contributions for the provision of 
educational facilities (including new school places).

45.Education contributions are set at £12,320.01 for each Primary place and 
£15,400.01 for each secondary place (this is currently under review).

46.The exact contribution would be calculated on a formula bases, however 
based on a scheme for the maximum 100 homes, the contributions would be 
worked out as follows:
 100 houses x 0.25 (primary yield factor) x £12,320.01 = £308,000.25
 100 houses x 0.1 (secondary yield factor) x £15,400.01 = £154,000.10
 Total contribution based on 100 units = £462,000.35  

47.The primary education contribution would be payable through the S106 legal 
agreement. The secondary education contribution is not proposed to be paid, 
and is considered further in the ‘Enabling case and viability’ section above.

Biodiversity Off-setting

48.As described in the ‘Biodiversity – Net Gain’ section above, the NPPF current 
requirement is that there should be no net loss of biodiversity. GMEU has 
identified a shortfall of biodiversity to the equivalent sum of between £17,000 
and £25,000, taking into account the baseline biodiversity quality of the site, 
and the proposed mitigation strategy. The applicant disagrees. On this basis, 
it is considered appropriate to include a requirement within the S106 that 
requires contributions only where full mitigation cannot be demonstrated in a 
reserved matters submission.

Off-site Highway Works

49.Paragraph 102 of the NPPF requires that transport issues should be 
considered at an early stage so that potential impacts can be addressed. 
Paragraph 108 requires decision-makers to ensure that significant impacts 
from development on the transport network (capacity and congestion), or on 
highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. 
Core Strategy policy T2 expects development proposals to financially 
contribute to transport improvements where additional traffic movements 
cannot be accommodated on the existing network.

50.The applicant has agreed to the following off-site highway works as part of 
S278 works, with costs to be required through the S106 legal agreement. This 
is separate to the contributions set out above.
 £3,000 – dropped crossings / tactile paving at access points
 £20,000 – raised tables and extended 20mph zone on Newchurch Street
 £6,000 – Footway reinstatement at junction with Queensway and lighting
 £4,000 – TRO review along Newchurch Street.

Page 37



Conclusion

51.The proposal is acceptable in principle, the access details are acceptable, and 
the site is capable of accommodating a residential use. Issues relating to 
design, neighbour amenity, and biodiversity mitigation can be considered in 
detail at reserved matters stage. Contaminated land, drainage and other 
matters are the subject of conditions of planning permission. The employment 
benefits arising from off-setting the costs for outdoor sports provision, 
secondary education and affordable housing weigh significantly in favour of 
the scheme.

52.Whilst the development does not comply with Core Strategy policies 
pertaining to infrastructure contributions, the proposal accords with other Core 
Strategy policies and the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
contributions would be used to maximise funds to invest back into the 
business, leading to significant local employment benefits. Such benefits 
satisfy the National Planning Policy Frameworks requirement to have 
significant regard to support economic growth and productivity (paragraph 
80).

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves it is 
minded to GRANT planning permission subject to a Section 106 agreement to 
secure: 

1:
(i)      Financial contributions of £308,000.25 towards Primary education;

(ii)     Where ‘no net loss’ of biodiversity cannot be demonstrated through 
the reserved matters submission and mitigation strategy, a payment 
for a financial contribution towards biodiversity off-setting, shall be 
triggered, the formula for which shall be based on the DEFRA off-set 
matrices;

(iii)   The provision and future maintenance of recreational open space 
within the site, in accordance with the Council’s policies;

(iv)   Financial contributions towards off-site highway improvement:
 £3,000 – dropped crossings / tactile paving at access points
 £20,000 – raised tables and extended 20mph zone on Newchurch Street
 £6,000 – Footway reinstatement at junction with Queensway and lighting
 £4,000 – TRO review along Newchurch Street

2:
(v)    A mechanism to ensure any affordable housing is to be provided on 

site; details shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

3: Clause that if the housing site is delivered but there is no investment in                                                                                                                                                                         
Farrel’s:

Page 38



(vi) contributions towards Outdoor Sports Provision, in accordance with 
the Council policies, 

(vii) A financial contribution of £154,000.10 towards Secondary education 
or the investment,

(viii)  Where affordable housing is not secured through a reserved matters 
submission, a commuted sum payment made, in accordance with the 
Council’s policies;

to be paid.

And that the Head of Planning Services is authorised to GRANT planning 
permission upon execution of the above S106 agreement subject to 
conditions. 

A full list of proposed conditions will be detailed in an update report.

Page 39



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 5th March 2020
Portfolio Councillor Carol Wardle

Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development 
& Housing

Report Author Richard Elliott
Public/Private Document Public

Application: N/A 
(Enforcement Appeal Decision) Township: Pennines Ward: Wardle & West 

Littleborough
Appeal reference:  APP/P4225/C/19/3231267

Site Address:  Land adjacent to 195 Wardle Road, Wardle, Rochdale OL12 9JB
Alleged Breach:  Without the benefit of planning permission the material change of use 
of the Land from agriculture to a mixed use comprising the kenneling of dogs and the 
parking and storage of vehicles, facilitated by: 1) the construction of kennel buildings; 2) 
the creation of a hard surface; 3) the erection of 1.8m high fencing around the Land, 
and; 4) the formation of a vehicular access onto Wardle Road.
Appellant: Mr Richard Lear Agent:  N/A

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Enforcement Appeal Dismissed 5th February 2020

 Following receipt of notification of an alleged breach of planning control regarding 
the change of use of the Land, the Council considered it expedient to take action 
and therefore an Enforcement Notice was issued on 23rd May 2019.  

 The Notice required the following within 4 months: 
(a) Demolish all the buildings on the Land;
(b) Dig up all of the hard surface on the Land;
(c) Remove all vehicles from the Land;
(d) Reduce the fencing fronting Wardle Road to 1m in height;
(e) Remove the gates fronting Wardle Road and replace with a 1m high fence;
(f) Cease the use of the Land for the parking and storage of vehicles;
(g) Erect a post and rail fence to the Wardle Road frontage in the location where 
the vehicular access point has been created. The fence shall match the 
immediately adjacent post and rail fence and form a continuous boundary with 
that fence and the stone wall;
(h) Seed the Land to grass; and;
(i) Remove all materials and all other items resulting from compliance with  
requirement (a) – (g) inclusive from the Land.

 The Notice was appealed on the ground that the requirements were excessive to 
achieve the purpose(s) of the notice.  

 The appeal was dismissed and the Notice was upheld with a variation that the 
gates fronting Wardle Road do not need to be replaced with a 1m high fence.  

 Officers will be monitoring the Land to ensure that the Notice is complied with.  

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 5th March 2020
Portfolio Councillor Carol 

Wardle
Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development 
& Housing

Report Author Richard Elliott
Public/Private Document Public

Application: N/A 
(Enforcement Appeal Decision) Township: Pennines Ward: Milnrow and Newhey

Appeal reference:  APP/P4225/C/19/3230313
Site Address:  Fishing Lodges on the Eastern Side of Huddersfield Road And To The 
South Of Smithy Green, Newhey, Rochdale OL16 3TG

Alleged Breach:  Without the benefit of planning permission the material change of use 
of the land from a recreational fishery to a mixed use as a recreational fishery and the 
siting of a static caravan for residential use.

Appellant: Mr Graham Tonge Agent:  N/A

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Enforcement Appeal Dismissed 29th January 2020

 Following receipt of notification of an alleged breach of planning control regarding 
the siting and residential occupation of a static caravan, an enforcement 
investigation began in 2017.  A retrospective planning application was 
subsequently submitted (planning reference 18/00768/FUL), and was refused in 
November 2018.  The Council considered it expedient to take action against the 
breach and therefore an Enforcement Notice was issued on 4th June 2019.  

 The Notice required: 
(a) Cease the use of the Land for residential use;
(b) Remove the static caravan from the Land;
(c) Remove from the Land all stands, blocks and all other associated components 
used to station the static caravan. 

 The period for compliance with the Notice was nine months.  
 The Notice was appealed on the ground that planning permission should be 

granted. 
 The appeal was dismissed and the Notice was upheld in full.  The Inspector 

concurred with the Council that the development constituted inappropriate 
development within the Green Belt and caused harm to the openness of the 
Green Belt, and that there were no very special circumstances to outweigh the 
identified harm to the Green Belt and the character and appearance of the area.  

 Officers will be monitoring the Land to ensure that the Notice is complied with.  

Page 41



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 5th March 2020
Portfolio Councillor Carol Wardle

Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development 
& Housing

Report Author Richard Elliott
Public/Private Document Public

Application: N/A 
(Enforcement Appeal Decision) Township: Heywood Ward: West Heywood

Appeal reference:  APP/P4225/C/19/3236457

Site Address:  Land Known as Land North of Bury New Road, Heywood
Alleged Breach:  Without the benefit of planning permission, a material change of use 
of the premises from a café (A3) to a hot food takeaway (A5) facilitated by operational 
development consisting of the installation of two externally attached flues, and the 
installation of food storage and cooking equipment.
Appellant: Georgie Porgies Diner Agent:   MAZE Planning Solutions

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Enforcement Appeal Dismissed 11th February 2020

 In August 2019 the Council served an amended enforcement notice against the 
unauthorised change of use of the Land within the Green Belt for the siting of a 
cabin/container unit together with associated decking and outdoor seating to 
provide a café/hot food takeaway.   

 The Notice required the following within four months: 
(a) Cease the use of the Land as a hot food takeaway and ancillary café; 
(b) Remove the cabin/container from the Land; 
(c) Remove the ancillary seating area from the Land; (d) Remove the decking 
from the Land; 
(e) Dig up the hardsurfaced areas and remove the materials from the Land; 
(f) Seed the Land to grass; and 
(g) Remove all other accessories, plant and apparatus associated with the use as 
a hot food takeaway with ancillary seating area from the Land;

 The Notice was appealed on the ground that planning permission should be 
granted and that the period for compliance was too short. 

 The appeal was dismissed, planning permission was refused, and the Notice was 
upheld with the time for compliance extended to 9 months and an amended plan.  

 The Inspector concurred with the Council that the development constitutes 
inappropriate development within the Green Belt, causes harm to the openness of 
the Green Belt, has a harmful effect on the Green Belt purpose of safeguarding 
the land from encroachment, and that there are no very special circumstances to 
outweigh the identified harm 

 Officers will be monitoring the Land to ensure that the Notice is complied with. 

Page 42



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 5th March 2020
Portfolio Councillor Carol Wardle,

Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development  
& Housing

Report Author David Allen
Public/Private Document Public

Application: 17/01127/FUL Township: Middleton Ward: North Middleton

Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/W/19/3231646 Decision level: Delegated

Site Address:  56-58 Market Place, Middleton, M24 6AF
Proposal: Refurbishment of existing Class A3 restaurant including an ancillary 
takeaway service comprising the formation of a new door opening, alterations to front 
elevation, including installation of new shop front and roller shutters and changes to 
fenestration and installation of new extraction flue and upgrade of single storey 
extension on rear elevation - part retrospective
Applicant: Mr Hossein Azinfar Agent: JPP Design Services

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Dismissed – 3rd January 2020

 The application related to a two-storey unit on the south-side of Market Place in 
Middleton; the ground floor of the premises was formerly occupied by ‘Exotic Spice’, 
an Indian restaurant & take-away, but the building was refurbished and altered in 
2017/18 with the ground floor unit subsequently occupied by ‘Hardee’z Gourmet 
Grill’. The first floor contains a one-bedroom flat.

 The application was refused under delegated powers for two reasons: the impact of 
the external alterations on the character and appearance of the Middleton Town 
Centre Conservation Area, within which the property is situated; and in light of 
sufficient information being provided to demonstrate that the proposed extraction flue 
would not have a detrimental impact on the amenity of occupiers of the first floor flat.

 The Inspector agreed with the Council’s determination with respect to the suitability 
of the external alterations, noting that the full-height shopfront did not respond to the 
advice within the Council’s Shop Fronts and Security Shutters SPD, and that the 
uPVC doors and windows would not reflect the traditional character of the 
Conservation Area and would be detrimental to the character and appearance of the 
host building and Conservation Area.

 The Inspector also agreed with the Council that the flue to the rear of the building 
would be a bulky addition and would be made more, rather than less, prominent by 
the proposal to encase it within ‘brick lookalike’ panels. The Inspector concluded that 
the development would not therefore preserve or enhance the character of 
appearance of the Conservation Area and would result in less than substantial harm 
to the significance of the heritage asset; there were no public benefits arising from 
the proposals which would outweigh this harm. The Inspector also agreed that there 
was insufficient information to demonstrate that the extraction flue does not cause 
unacceptable harm to living conditions for residents of the flat.

Page 43



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 5th March 2020
Portfolio Councillor Carol Wardle

Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development 
& Housing

Report Author Richard Elliott
Public/Private Document Public

Application: N/A 
(Enforcement Appeal Decision) Township: Middleton Ward: South Middleton

Appeal reference:  APP/P4225/C/19/3236457

Site Address:  Land at 673 Manchester Old Road, Middleton, Manchester M24 4GF
Alleged Breach:  Without the benefit of planning permission, a material change of use 
of the premises from a café (A3) to a hot food takeaway (A5) facilitated by operational 
development consisting of the installation of two externally attached flues, and the 
installation of food storage and cooking equipment.
Appellant:  Ms Nazia Hussain and 
Ms Sidra Akhtar Agent:    Mark Jones Planning Consultancy

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Enforcement Appeal Dismissed 18th February 2020

 The Enforcement Notice was issued in August 2019. 
 The Notice required the following within three months:

(a) Cease the unauthorised hot food takeaway use at the property; 
(b) Remove the two flues attached to the rear of the property from the Land; 
(c) Repair the rear wall and roof using matching materials following removal of the 
flues, and; 
(d) Remove all other items from the Land that have been brought onto it to 
facilitate the hot food takeaway use, including (i) Commercial hot hold food 
counters (ii) Griddles (iii) Kebab machine (iv) Deep Fat Fryers (including Henny 
Penny) (v) Commercial Pizza ovens (vi) Interior ducting and canopy.

 The Notice was appealed on four grounds, namely: That planning permission 
should be granted, that the alleged breach has not occurred, that the steps that 
are required to be taken to remedy the breach are excessive, and that the time 
period for compliance is too short.  

 The appeal was dismissed, planning permission was refused, and the Notice was 
upheld without variation. 

 The Inspector concurred with the Council that the unauthorised use, the flue and 
the extraction equipment has a harmful effect on the character and appearance of 
the property and the area, and the amenities of neighbours.

 The Inspector also considered that the Council’s requirements and the timeframe 
for compliance with the requirements were not excessive.   

 Officers will be monitoring the property to ensure that the Notice is complied with.  

Page 44



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 5th March 2020
Portfolio Councillor Carol Wardle

Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development 
& Housing

Report Author Richard Elliott
Public/Private Document Public

Application: N/A 
(Enforcement Appeal Decision) Township: Rochdale Ward: Kingsway

Appeal reference:  APP/P4225/C/19/3227277

Site Address:  5 Franklin Street, Rochdale, OL16 5JP

Alleged Breach:  Without the benefit of planning permission operational development 
comprising the construction of a second floor rear extension

Appellant: Ms Fahima Abu-
Mohamed Al Faqi Agent:  Chorlton Planning Ltd

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Enforcement Appeal Allowed 24th February 2020

 An Enforcement Notice was issued on 28th March 2019. 
 The Notice required the following within twelve months: 

(a) demolish the second floor rear extension; 
(b) restore the rear elevation and roof to its former condition; and 
(c) remove all materials and items resulting from compliance with requirements 
(a) and (b) from the land.

 The Notice was appealed on the grounds that planning permission should be 
granted, that those matters (if they occurred) do not constitute a breach of 
planning control, that the steps required by the Notice were excessive, and that 
the time for compliance was too short. 

 The appeal was allowed on the Grounds that planning permission should be 
granted for the development.     

 The Inspector agreed with the Council that the development was unauthorised.  
The Inspector further agreed that the development, which extends upward, flush 
with the external walls of the house, is an incongruous and alien addition to the 
host dwelling due to its sheer bulk and form, is overly imposing on the host 
property, unbalances the pair of semi-detached dwellings and detracts from the 
character and appearance of the area.  However, they considered that there was 
a significant fall-back position that outweighed the identified harm, that being that 
a development of substantially similar form and dimensions could be carried out 
without the need for planning permission, and be visually equally as harmful.  On 
balance the Inspector considered that planning permission should be granted.  

 The Council’s enforcement case regarding this matter is now closed.   

Page 45



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 5th March 2020
Portfolio Councillor Carol Wardle,

Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development  
& Housing

Report Author Ryan Killeen
Public/Private Document Public

Application: 19/00616/HOUS Township: Middleton Ward: East Middleton

Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/D/19/3232372 Decision level: Delegated

Site Address:  Dane House, William Street, Middleton, M24 2JT
Proposal: Erection of a single storey outbuilding within front driveway to provide annexe 
accommodation
Applicant: Daniel James & Maria Hughes Agent: Emery Planning

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Dismissed – 14/02/2020

 The application for an annexe building on the front driveway of the property was 
refused as its siting and design would not only harm the setting of the neighbouring 
Grade II* listed building (Tonge Hall) and negatively impact upon views of this 
building, but would also harm the significance of Dane House. In addition, the 
proposed building would result in an overly prominent addition of poor design and be 
out of keeping with the main house, which is considered as a Non-Designated 
Heritage Asset (NDHO), and the neighbouring Grade II* listed building. The less than 
substantial harm to the setting of the Grade II* listed Tonge Hall would not be 
outweighed by any public benefits. 

 The Inspector agreed with the Council that the design and materials of the proposed 
annexe would detract from and therefore harm the character and appearance of the 
host property.

 Whilst the inspector acknowledged the setting of Tonge Hall had been greatly altered 
over time, and that the appellant considers the setting to contribute very little to its 
significance, the Inspector considered that the development would still cause less 
than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, where no 
public benefits had been proposed to outweigh this harm.

 It is noted that the Inspector did not consider Dane House to be a NDHO, as no 
details or evidence to support this had been provided.

 The inspector concluded that certain aspects of the design would not harmonise with 
the host dwelling, which would consequently be harmful to the character and 
appearance of the dwelling as well as being harmful to the setting and views of 
Tonge Hall, to which no public benefit was identified. 

Page 46



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 05 March 2020
Portfolio Councillor Carol Wardle,

Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development  & 
Housing

Report Author Michael Atkinson-Smith
Public/Private Document Public

Application: 19/00631/FUL Township: Middleton Ward: South Middleton

Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/W/19/3236559 Decision level: Delegated

Site Address: Land adjacent to Archer Cottage, Sefton Road, Middleton M24 4AB

Proposal: Erection of one detached dwelling -Resubmission of 18/01367/FUL

Applicant: Mr Lee Neville Agent: Mr John Smith

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Dismissed – 5th February 2020

 The main issue of the appeal was the effect of the proposed development on the 
character and appearance of the appeal site and the surrounding area, including 
the setting of Archer Cottage and Westdene, which are both non-designated 
heritage assets.

 The Inspector agreed that the appeal scheme through its footprint, and overall 
bulk and massing would be excessive for the site and distinctly at odds with the 
character of neighbouring properties, as it would appear discordant in its location 
and more cramped in its appearance.  The proximity to Archer Cottage, which is 
much more modest in proportion, was found to exacerbate the harm.

 The Inspector noted the Council’s concerns regarding the fenestration detailing 
and reference to local vernacular but noted that whilst it was not clear from the 
submitted drawings how the materials finish would be applied, this could be 
controlled through a suitably worded condition.

 The Inspector gave less weight to the fenestration detailing and dormers than the 
Council on the basis that Sefton Road is a varied street scene with various 
architectural styles and forms utilised.

 The Inspector concluded that whilst the proposal included materials and features 
present in the local vernacular, this would not outweigh the significant harm that 
would result from the irregular and excessive footprint of the dwelling and the 
strident roof that would be formed as a consequence.  

 As such the Inspector found that the proposed development would significantly 
harm the character and appearance of the appeal site and surrounding area and 
would adversely affect the significance of the non-designated heritage assets of 
Archer Cottage and Westdene.

 Accordingly the appeal was dismissed.

Page 47


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6a Land at Moorhouse Fold
	6b Farrel Ltd, Queensway, Rochdale
	7 Determined Planning Appeals
	Land known as Fishing Lodges on the Eastern Side of Huddersfield Road And To The South Of Smithy Green Newhey Rochdale OL16 3TG - Enforcement
	14-0419-ECU Land north of Bury New Road Heywood OL10 4RJ -  Enforcement
	17-01127-FUL - 56-58 Market Place Middleton
	19-0091-ECU  673 Manchester Old Road - Enforcement
	19-0096-EUD - 5 Franklin Street
	19-00616-HOUS Dane House
	19-00631-FUL Land adjacent to Archer Cottage


